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BASILICA SCHOOL OF SAINT MARY OF SAINT MARY SUPPORTING 

DOCUMENTS 

EXHIBIT A: PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE CUPOLA 

Photographs in this exhibit illustrate conditions of the current cupola that stands above the main entrance to 

the Basilica School of Saint Mary of Saint Mary (2021 Photos by Alex Solsma, Basilica of St. Mary) 

of Saint Mary). 

Cupola detail, current conditions (2021 photo) 

Cupola housing entrance at rooftop (2021 photo) Exterior enclosure of cupola housing showing existing condition (2021 photo) 

Entrance One at the Basilica School of Saint Mary of Saint Mary, 400 Green Street 
(2021 photo) 
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Cupola interior housing and hatch structure, showing current condition and areas in need of evaluation (2021 photo) 

 

  
 

Cupola wood framing and metal work (2021 photo) 

Historic 1811 school bell and framework, detail below (2021 photo) 
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EXHIBIT B: HISTORY OF THE BASILICA SCHOOL OF SAINT MARY  

uring the first half of the nineteenth century, there were several attempts to establish parish 

schools associated with the Church of Saint Mary, now designated by the Holy See as the 84th 

minor basilica in the United States. In those times, Saint John's Academy, the Brothers' School, and 

Saint Mary's Academy, while not parish schools, were established as private Catholic schools that 

enjoyed a close association to the first Catholic parish in Virginia and its pastors. 
 

In 1869, the Sisters of the Holy Cross opened Saint Mary's Academy (on the site which is now 

Alexandria Country Day School). The pastor of the Church of Saint Mary made an agreement with 

the Sisters that they would also help fulfill the need for a free parish school. That same year, two 

Sisters started Saint Mary's Catholic School, a free school for all parish children. 
 

At first, the school operated from Saint Mary's Hall, a large brick building located at the corner of 

South Royal and Wolfe Streets (structure no longer survives). By the following year in 1870, there 

were twenty boys and twenty girls enrolled in this school. The building housed two separate 

classrooms on the first floor: one for the girls, and the other for the boys. Classrooms were heated by 

pot-bellied stoves; and the only available plumbing was located outdoors. Students rotated their seats 

so they would not become overheated while in class. Because there was no real playground for the 

children, South Royal Street closed to traffic during recess, and the students filled the street to play. 
 

 rowning the original school building was a cupola,  

                 which housed the school bell. This very same bell 

(cast in 1811, pre-dating the 1827 Royal Street church) can 

be found inside the iconic cupola that crowns the Basilica 

School of Saint Mary at 400 Green Street. Every year on   

the first day of school, that same bell still rings to 

welcome students back to school, a tribute to over 150 

years of continuing education for the next generation of 

Alexandria City youth. It has been noted that the Basilica 

School of Saint Mary cupola ranks among the most 

photographed landmarks in the City. 
 

By the 1940s, the school population grew so large that the 

Sixth and Seventh Graders had to attend classes in Saint 

Mary’s Lyceum at 313 Duke Street (now the parish 

offices and auditorium). The school was still free, 

underwritten by parish contributions. Wartime restrictions 

had prevented the construction of new school space. By 

the end of WWII, plans were firmly in place for a new, 

larger school. 
 

ullman Farm (adjacent to the Yates Gardens neighborhood) was chosen as the site of the new 

       school. Originally purchased for the proposed expansion of Saint Mary's Cemetery, this large 

plot of land became the site of what is now the Basilica School of Saint Mary, playground and 

parking area located at 400 Green Street. After World War II, families in Alexandria were just 

beginning to recover from the severe financial impact of two world wars. Nevertheless, the Very 

Reverend Monsignor Edward L. Stephens urged the parishioners to generously contribute to the 

building of the new school. 
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In his message asking them to make a sacrifice for “these little ones” Monsignor reminded his 

parishioners of their duty to support education for the next generation of Alexandrians out of Christian 

charity and duty to God, neighbor, and country. His special message for the Third Sunday after Easter 

encouraged the fundraising for the new school, pictured with a spire design similar to the South Bell 

Tower of the Church building (Monsignor Stephens Letter from the Basilica of Saint Mary Archives). 
 

onstruction of the new school commenced in 1948; and the design of the cupola changed to 

reflect a more Neoclassical Revival style, popular the mid-Twentieth Century. By March 1, 1950 

students began the move into the “new school” as it was then known. The complex offered twelve 

classrooms, a library, the principal's office, teachers' lounge, clinic, cafeteria, and a multi-purpose 

room when it opened. When the school corner stone was laid by Bishop Peter Leo Ireton of Richmond, 

enrollment numbered 512 students (Photo of Bishop Ireton from Basilica of Saint Mary Archives). 
 

As Alexandria expanded and the baby boom 

population peaked, there were 1,170 students 

enrolled in the school in the early 1960s. To better 

meet the needs of the growing school population, 

the west wing of the school was added in 1952, 

with five additional classrooms and a 

kindergarten. Until this time, the school was 

staffed exclusively by the teaching Sisters of the 

Holy Cross, who lived in the small convent on 

Fairfax Street. By 1954, it was necessary to hire 

lay teachers to staff the school. The parish 
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constructed a new convent adjacent to the school to house the teaching Sisters. The new convent 

served as a residence for the Sisters until it was converted to a Junior High in the mid 1990's. 

Designated as Stephens Hall in honor of Monsignor Edward Stephens, the building was renovated 

again in 2011 to accommodate the new Middle School for the Sixth through Eighth Grade students. 
 

Changes and improvements to the school also 

included the building of Monsignor Wingler - Ella 

Hill Hall (more commonly known as "the Gym"). 

A large portion of the costs of construction were 

covered by a generous donation from lifelong 

parishioner, Miss Ella Hill. Upon her death, she 

had willed her house on Lee Street to the parish. 

Monsignor Joseph Wingler earmarked the profits 

from the sale of Miss Hill’s house for the 

construction of the Gymnasium, which also serves 

as an auditorium. Over the years, the Gym has 

been central to the community, parish and school 

life, offering a place for daily physical education classes, Home and School Association fundraisers, 

school dances, Sunday Children's Mass, musicals, drama productions, science fairs, CYO basketball, 

and large parish events including the annual Oktoberfest and Irish Hooley (Aerial photo of Saint 

Mary’s School and neighborhood, dating to the early 1960s, Basilica of Saint Mary Archives). 
 

ecently, the Basilica School of   

Saint Mary completed the First 

Phase of a $12M multi-phased 

campus transformation and 

renovation.   To date, $6.2M has 

been     raised toward an ultimate 

philanthropic goal of $8M thanks 

to the great generosity of more than 

600 parish and school families and 

individuals thus far. The First   

Phase renovations designed by 

Barnes Vanze Architecture 

(BVA)  included a new designed 

Welcome Lobby and Vestibule for 

students, parents, and visitors. The 

entrance seamlessly integrates the 

latest  protocols for health 

screening as well as other 

security   procedures designed to 

protect the 

students, faculty, and staff. Stained-glass accents and graphically illustrated school mottos celebrate 

the school history and Catholic identity, while advanced integrated security systems offer ongoing 

monitoring and protection from threats. (Photo courtesy Barnes Vanze Architecture) 
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The BVA campus-wide master plan for the Basilica School of Saint Mary of Saint Mary includes an 

8,000 square foot 21st century library media center which also serves to connect the elementary and 

middle schools illustrated below.  
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The plan also calls for new turf playing fields, improved faculty and staff parking, social gathering 

areas, and a Mary garden to enhance the beauty of the Basilica School of Saint Mary main entrance 

for students, educators, and the Yates Gardens and Old Town neighborhood community. 
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The “jewel in the crown” of this historic campus transformation project would be the restored 

Williamsburg cupola that graces the Basilica School of Saint Mary pediment at the Main Entrance.  

 

Currently, this is not part of the scope of work, as all funding is needed to support the exterior and 

interior renovations. 
Perimeter security fencing reflects the design of the neighboring residential hardscape, with the brick 

plinth bases and capped columns that provide the structure for iron picket infill fencing. The 

neighborhood benefits from the graceful double-sided curved staircase centered around the Basilica 

School of Saint Mary patroness and namesake. Improved vehicular access through the campus and 

through the neighborhood eases the congestion at the beginning and the end of the day, thus 

creating a more gracious and welcoming campus atmosphere and better neighborhood integration. 
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EXHIBIT C: LETTERS OF RECOMMENDATION 

▪ Catherine (Kitty) Guy – Author, Member of one of the Parish Founding Families, Fifth 

Generation School Student, Teacher, and Parish Historian. 
 

▪ Cassie McLaughlin – School Parent of four School Graduates and Parishioner. 
 

▪ Michael Patrick, AIA, NCARB, LEED AP – Principal, Barnes Vanze Architecture, Architect of 

Record for the Basilica and School, Parent of Student, and Parishioner. 
 

▪ Mary A. D. Petrino, ASID, CID, LEED AP – Past President of the Washington Metro Chapter 

of the American Society of Interior Designers, NCIDQ-Certified Commercial Interior 

Designer, Parent of CCD Graduate, and Parishioner. (If needed) 
 

▪ Pending Letters – Anne Matthis Contacts 
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